
Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
Directorate 

Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House  Botchergate  Carlisle 
Cumbria  CA1 1RD  Tel 01228 606060  Email 

democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

 

  

 

 
To:   The Chair and Members of the Scrutiny 

Management Board 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD – CALL IN MEETING 
 
A meeting of the Scrutiny Management Board to discuss the call in of the Cabinet decision 
on the Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the Secretary of State in 
respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria will be held as follows:  
 
 Date: Monday, 11 October 2021 

 Time: 2.00 pm 

 Place: Council Chamber,  County Hall, Kendal 

 

 
NB A PRE-MEETING OF THE BOARD WILL BE HELD AT 1PM IN COMMITTEE 

ROOM 2, COUNTY HALL KENDAL TO WHICH ALL MEMBERS ARE 
ENCOURAGED TO ATTEND 

 
 

 
Dawn Roberts 
Executive Director –Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
 
 
 
 
Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to: Jackie Currie 
Direct Line: 07919 056193 
Email: jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats 
 

 
 

Serving the People of Cumbria 
 

mailto:jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk


MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Conservative Members (6) 
 
Mr P Dew 
Dr S Haraldsen 
Mr J Lister 
Mrs V Tarbitt 
Mr CP Turner 
Mr WJ Wearing (Chairman) 
 

Labour Members (5) 
 
Mr KR Hamilton 
Mr M Hawkins 
Ms C McCarron-Holmes 
Mr W McEwan 
Mr M Wilson (Vice-Chair) 

 
Liberal Democrat Members (3) 
 
Mr SB Collins 
Mrs S Evans 
Mr N Hughes 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 
 
Agenda and Reports 
 
Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting. 
 
The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website –  
www.cumbria.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers 
 
Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday. 

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A 
 
 
PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
   
 
2   MEMBERSHIP 

 
To report any changes to the membership of the Board. 
   
 
3   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises 

 
1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit or gain.  
 
2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 

a beneficial interest) and the authority  
 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and  

 
(b) Which has not been fully discharged.  

 
4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.   
 
5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 

the authority for a month or longer.   
 
6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge)  
 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and 
 
(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest. 

 



7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 
 

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
the authority; and 

 
(b) Either –  
 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered. 
 
Note 
 
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).  
   
 
4   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda. 
   
 
5   CALL-IN ITEMS   

 
(A)  Cabinet Report - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the 

Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in 
Cumbria  
 

 A copy of the Cabinet Report on the Potential Claim for Judicial Review against 
decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation 
in Cumbria is attached (copy enclosed) 
 
Appendix 3 – Counsel’s Advice (To follow) Not for publication by virtue of 
paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as this 
report contains information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
   
(Pages 7 - 30) 
 
 
 
 



(B)   Cabinet Minute Extract - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against 
decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government 
Reorganisation in Cumbria  
 

 A copy of a Minute Extract from Cabinet on 23 September 2021, in relation to the 
Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the Secretary of State in 
respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria item is attached (copy 
enclosed) 
   
(Pages 31 - 34) 
 
 

(C)  Call in letter - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the 
Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in 
Cumbria  
 

 A copy of the call in letter is attached (copy enclosed) 
  
 (Pages 35 - 36) 
 
 

(D)  Supplementary Information  
 

 None available at the time of despatch. 
   
 

6   CALL IN FLOW CHART 
 

Attached 
 
(Pages 37 - 38) 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee:  Cabinet

Date of meeting: 23 September 2021

Title of Report:  Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of
the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government
Reorganisation in Cumbria

Report by:   Iolanda Puzio, Chief Legal Officer

Cabinet Member:  Stewart Young, Leader of the Council

What is the Report About? (Executive Summary)

1. This report recommends Cabinet to consider whether to issue a claim for
judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of State to implement the
East/West two unitary authority proposal in Cumbria.

Recommendation of the Chief Legal Officer

2. Cabinet is recommended to review the summary of the legal advice which is
contained in the appendix to this report and to determine whether to issue a
claim for judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of State.

 Background to the Proposals

 Background to potential claim

3. On 21 July the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government announced his decision to, subject to Parliamentary approval,
implement the proposal for two unitary councils in Cumbria on an East/West
split.

4. On Monday 9 August the Council sent a pre-action protocol letter (“PAPL”) to
the Secretary of State in respect of a proposed claim by the Council for judicial
review of the decision of the Secretary of State to create two new unitary
authorities for the county of Cumbria (“the Two Unitary Approach”) rather than a
single unitary covering the whole of the county (“the Single Unitary Approach”).
The PAPL was also sent to the 6 District Councils in Cumbria as Interested
Parties in any claim for judicial review.  A copy of the PAPL is attached as
appendix 1.

5. The PAPL requested the Secretary of State to respond to the letter by 23
August.  The Secretary of State requested an extension to this timescale which
was granted.  The Secretary of State’s response was received on 6 September.
A copy of the response is attached as Appendix 2.

7

Agenda Item 5a



6. On 25 August there was a special meeting of the Council to discuss the judicial
review at which it was resolved that that this council believes that launching a
legal challenge against the proposed Local Government Reform in Cumbria will
be a waste of public money and time and that the council should instead focus
on serving local residents by working constructively with all partners to ensure a
smooth transition to the new unitary authorities.

Process for bringing a claim for Judicial Review

7. Judicial review is the mechanism by which the courts can review the decision-
making process of a public body to determine whether a decision was taken
lawfully and fairly. The purpose of judicial review is not to examine the decision
itself.  Judicial review is only concerned with the process by which the decision
was reached.

8. There are four main grounds for bringing a claim for judicial review.  These are
illegality, irrationality, procedural impropriety and legitimate expectation.

9. The role of the court in a judicial review claim is not to re-take the decision itself
but to look at the decision-making process.  The possible remedies are a
mandatory, prohibiting or quashing order, a declaration or an injunction.  The
most common remedy is a quashing order – this means the public authority will
be required to make the decision again following the correct procedure and
acting fairly and reasonably taking into account all relevant facts and ignoring all
irrelevant facts.  The public authority may reach the same decision again.

10. There is a two-stage process to bringing a claim for judicial review.  A claim for
judicial review may only be brought with the permission of the court.  If the court
is satisfied that there is an arguable case for judicial review it will grant
permission to proceed to a substantive hearing. The Court can agree to hear
both aspects of the application on the same day, with the permission hearing
rolling into a substantive one if considered appropriate by the Court.

11. The court must refuse to grant permission if it appears to the court to be highly
likely that the outcome would not have been substantially different if the conduct
complained of had not occurred unless it considers that to do so is appropriate
for reasons of exceptional public interest.  This is designed to prevent judicial
review cases being brought to challenge minor or technical errors that did not
make a difference to the outcome.

12. Strict time limits apply to a claim for judicial review.  The claimant must file a
claim form promptly and, in any event, within three months of the date on which
the grounds for the claim first arose.  This would require proceedings to be
issued by 20 October 2021 in order to satisfy this time limit.

13. If the defendant intends to resist the claim it must file an acknowledgement of
service within 21 days of service of the claim form together with a summary of
its grounds for resisting the claim.

8



Next Steps

14. If the Council decides to proceed with the claim for judicial review the next step
is to submit a claim form to the Court.  This will set out details of the claim and
any other interested parties and seek permission to proceed with the claim for
judicial review.  It should also state whether the Council is claiming urgency or
needs the application to be determined within a certain timescale.

15. As discussed above there is a strict 3-month time limit for bringing claims for
judicial review so if the Council wishes to proceed with a claim it must do so
within this time limit.

16. The legal advice Council has received in relation to the potential claim is
attached as appendix 3.  Cabinet is recommended to consider this advice and
determine whether or not to proceed with the claim.

17. If Cabinet determines to bring the claim then the Chief Legal Officer has the
authority to issue proceedings on behalf of the Council under 15.8(g) of the
Scheme of Delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution.

Options Considered and Risks Identified

Option (a)

Cabinet reviews the summary of the legal advice which is contained in the
appendix to this report and determine whether to issue a claim for judicial
review against the decision of the Secretary of State.

.
Option (b)

Cabinet asks for further information prior to determining whether to issue a
claim for judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of State.

 Risks – There is a strict time 3-month time limit for issuing a claim for judicial
review if Cabinet delays the decision as to whether or not to issue a claim it may
not be possible to meet this time limit.

Reasons for the recommendation/Key benefits

18. The Secretary of State’s decision on 21 July 2021 will result in a major
restructuring of local government in Cumbria.  It is important that all relevant
factors are taken into account in determining such a major decision which will
have a long-term impact on the delivery of services to the people of Cumbria.

Financial – What Resources will be needed and how will it be Funded?

19. The direct financial implications of the Council issuing a claim for judicial review
against the decision of the Secretary of State is in respect of potential legal
costs to pursue the claim estimated at £0.040m. This includes £0.003m in costs
incurred to date to issue the pre action protocol letter. If the Council is
unsuccessful in its claim then legal costs incurred by Government could be
attributable to the Council. It is estimated that they could be an additional
£0.040m.

9



20. If the decision of Council is to not proceed with a claim for judicial review no
additional direct costs will be incurred.

21. The Council has a requirement to ensure that the use of its resources provides
value for money and achieves best value. This should be taken into account in
determining its decision.

 Legal Aspects – What needs to be considered?

22. Cabinet is responsible for all functions of the Council unless they are delegated
elsewhere, either by law or under this Constitution.  A decision to issue a claim
for judicial review is not delegated elsewhere under the Constitution so falls
within the Cabinet’s responsibility.

23. As the decision to issue a claim for judicial review is an executive decision the
resolution passed by Council on 25 August is not binding on Cabinet.

24. Legal advice on the possible claim for judicial review is set out in appendix 3 to
this report.

Health and Safety Aspects – What needs to be considered?

25. There are no identified health and safety aspects to be considered in relation to
the issues discussed in this report.

Council Plan Priority – How do the Proposals Contribute to the Delivery of
the Council’s Stated Outcomes? (Outcomes - People in Cumbria are
Healthy and Safe, Places in Cumbria are well connected and thriving, the
Economy in Cumbria is growing and benefits everyone)

26. The issues discussed in this report are focussed on ensuring that full
consideration is given to how local government reorganisation in Cumbria can
be structured to improve outcomes for the people of Cumbria and ensure places
in Cumbria are well connected and thriving and the economy in Cumbria is
growing and benefits everyone.

 What is the Impact of the Decision on Health Inequalities and Equality and
Diversity Issues?

27. There are no identified health inequalities and equality and diversity issues to
be considered in relation to the recommendations in this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Pre Action Protocol Letter
Appendix 2 – Response to Pre Action Protocol Letter
Appendix 3 – Counsel’s advice.  (To follow) Not for publication by virtue of paragraph 5
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as this report contains
information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.

10



Key Facts

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive
Decision

Key
Decision
Included
in
Forward
Plan

Exempt
from
call-in

Exemption
agreed by
scrutiny
chair

Considered
by
scrutiny, if
so detail
below

Environmental
or
sustainability
assessment
undertaken?

Equality impact
assessment
undertaken?

Yes Not
included
on
forward
plan

No No No No No

Approved by the relevant Cabinet Member/s on 15 September 2021

Previous relevant Council or Executive decisions

Leader Decision 6 August 2021

Consideration by Overview & Scrutiny

No

Background Papers

None

Report Author

Liz Morgan, Senior Lawyer, Legal and Democratic Services
Email liz.morgan@cumbria.gov.uk

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cumbria County Council   

 

 
 

Serving the people of Cumbria 
cumbria.gov.uk      

 

Chief Legal Officer   Corporate, Customer and Community Services  Cumbria House  117 Botchergate 

Carlisle  Cumbria  CA1 1RD 

T: 07919298368  E: Iolanda.Puzio@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

  

9th August 2021 
 
Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities & Local Government 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
4th Floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
LONDON  
SW1P 4DF 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Pre-Action Protocol  for Judicial Review - Letter before claim  
 
Proposed Claim for Judicial Review  
 

1. This is a pre-application protocol letter in respect of a proposed claim by Cumbria County 
Council (“CCC”) for judicial review of the decision of the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (“the SoS”) dated 21st July 2021 (“the Cumbria 
Decision”) to create two new unitary authorities for the county of Cumbria (“the Two Unitary 
Approach”) rather than a single unitary covering the whole of the county (“the Single Unitary 
Approach”).  

 
The Claimant 
 

2. The claimant in the proposed action is: 
 

County Council 
Cumbria House 
117 Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RD 

 
Legal Advisors 
 

3. Cumbria County Council is represented by: 
 

Iolanda Puzio 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 
Cumbria County Council 
Cumbria House 
117 Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RD 
E-mail: Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk 
Tel: 07919 298368 

13

mailto:Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk


 
 
The Defendant 
 

4. The Defendant in the proposed action is: 
 

Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
4th Floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
LONDON  
SW1P 4DF 

 
 
Interested Parties  
 

5. Cumbria County Council has identified the following interested parties, to whom a copy of 
this letter will be sent: 

 
Andrew Seekings, 
Chief Executive 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria CA14 3YJ 
 
Sam Plum, 
Chief Executive 
Barrow in Furness Borough Council 
Town Hall, Duke Street Barrow in Furness LA14 2LD 
 
Jason Gooding,  
Chief Executive 
Carlisle City Council, The Civic Centre, Rickergate, Carlisle CA3 8QG 
 
Pat Graham, 
Head of Paid Service 
Copeland Borough Council, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven CA28 7SJ 
 
Les Clark,  
Chief Executive 
Eden District Council, Town Hall, Corney Square, Penrith CA11 7QF 
 
Lawrence Conway,  
Chief Executive 
South Lakeland District Council, Lowther Street, Kendal LA9 4UF 

 
Details of the matter being challenged and the issue 
 

6. This is a proposed claim by Cumbria County Council (“CCC”) for judicial review of the 

decision of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government (“the 

SoS”) dated 21st July 2021 (“the Cumbria Decision”) to create two new unitary authorities for 

the county of Cumbria (“the Two Unitary Approach”) rather than a single unitary covering 

14



the whole of the county (“the Single Unitary Approach”). On the same date and applying the 

same guidance the SoS decided to adopt a Single Unitary Approach in North Yorkshire and 

Somerset.  

 
7. The Cumbria Decision was unlawful in that the SoS:  

a. left out of account necessarily material considerations which his own guidance 

requires to be taken into account; 

b. failed to conscientiously consider the consultation responses of CCC showing why 

the Two Unitary Approach did not meet the SoS’s own guidance and would not 

deliver that which his guidance required; 

c. failed to understand or apply his own guidance in terms of the required scale of the 

new unitary authorities and provided no reason to depart from that guidance; 

d. failed to recognise that the Two Unitary Approach is predicated around the creation 

of a mayoral combined authority to ensure co-ordination on key matters thus adding 

a new tier of local government administration, undermining the savings claimed and 

the need for which was a key reason why a Single Unitary Approach was appropriate 

here;  

e. for no valid reason, acted inconsistently with his approach in North Yorkshire where a 

Single Unitary Approach was adopted – in the case of North Yorkshire factors in 

favour of a Single Unitary Approach were relied on but the same factors equally 

applicable to Cumbria were ignored in the Cumbria Decision;  

f. appears could have been motivated by the possible party political advantage that 

splitting Cumbria in two may secure for his party.  If this was a factor in the decision, 

it would be an abuse of power and unlawful;  

g. acted irrationally; and 

h. failed to provide adequate reasons addressing the principal controversial issues.  

  
Statutory Scheme and Legal Principles 

8. The full legal framework will be set out in the Grounds. A summary is provided here.  

 

9. Inviting Proposals: Section 2 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007 (“the 2007 Act”) empowers the Secretary of State to invite proposals for local 

government reorganisation from the local authorities in an area to create single tier 

authorities (“STAs”). The form of STA (whether a single unitary, or multiple unitary) to be 

provided may be specified in the invitation or left open (s.2(8)). 

 

10. Guidance and Necessarily Material Considerations In making a proposal, the authorities 

concerned must (s.3(5)) have regard to any guidance from the SoS as to: 

(a) what a proposal should seek to achieve; and 

(b) matters that should be taken into account in formulating a proposal. 

 

11. Those matters provide the basis on which local government reorganisation may be judged 

beneficial and are thus necessarily material consideration in decision making under the Act. 

They were therefore necessarily material considerations in the SoS’s consideration of any 

proposals made and which, if any, proposal to implement.  

 

15



12. Section 7(1) provides that the SoS may choose to implement proposals received with or 

without modification and may implement any proposals by Order. The SoS decided to make 

no modifications to the proposals he chose.  

 
13. Consultation: By virtue of s.7(3), the SoS must first consult all authorities concerned on the 

proposal. The standard principles on consultation thus apply. Consultation must occur at the 

formative stage of decision making and consultation responses must be conscientiously 

considered.  

 
14. Consistency:  like cases must be decided alike unless there is a relevant distinguishing 

feature providing a logical reason for a different approach.  

 
15. Subsequent steps to increase co-ordination:  where there are two or more unitary 

authorities they may each agree to adopt joint working arrangements  and here the Cumbria 

Two Unitary Approach envisaged creating a new tier of local government administration. 

The effects and uncertainty of that additional tier were left out of account.  

 
16. Political Control: fixing boundaries of authorities for party political advantage is an abuse of 

power, not a purpose for which the s.2 power is given or can be used and is legally and 

factually immaterial to the exercise of s.2 powers by analogy with Porter v. Magill [2001] 

UKHL 67.  

 
Essential Facts 

Current Local Government arrangements    

17. Cumbria, North Yorkshire and Somerset are currently two tier authorities, each with a 

County Council and several district councils.  

 

18. In Cumbria, the district councils are as follows: along the west coast of Cumbria are 

Allerdale and Copeland with Carlisle City to the north; and to the east (and south) Barrow, 

South Lakeland and Eden. Lancaster City Council lies directly to the south in Lancashire. 

North Yorkshire has Richmondshire and Craven to the west; then Hambleton and Harrogate 

in the central area with Ryedale and Scarborough to the east. The City of York, an existing 

unitary, is to the south. Selby is to the south of York and Harrogate. 

 
19. Under the current arrangements the counties are responsible for education and children’s 

services, social care, waste disposal, highways and transport (and in some cases fire and 

rescue service); the districts are responsible for most planning issues, housing and related 

benefits, waste collection and council tax collection.  

 
20. In Cumbria, there is a single countywide police service. Health services are organised on a 

north-south split with the north of Cumbria being served by the North East and North 

Cumbria ICS and the south by the Lancashire and South Cumbria ICS. There is a single 

local enterprise partnership for the whole county.  

 
21. In North Yorkshire, there is a single countywide police service (which includes York). Health 

services are organised on an east/west split – the Humber, Coast and Vales ICS to the east 

16



and the West Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS to the west. There is a single local enterprise 

partnership for the whole county (plus York).  

Physical Facts 

22. North Yorkshire is the largest non-metropolitan county in physical area in England (8037 sq 

km) with a population of 618,000; a population density of 77 people/sq km, a 73% rural 

population and its largest urban areas are Harrogate with a 75,000 population, Scarborough 

with 62,000. It has two national parks within it (Yorkshire Dales and North Yorkshire Moors) 

covering 40% of its area and thus significant impediments to east/west travel.  

 

23. Cumbria is the second largest non-metropolitan county in physical area in England (6767 sq 

km) with a population of 500,000 (225,000 in the proposed eastern area and 275,000 in the 

western area), a population density of 74 people/sq km (60 in the east and 91 in the west), 

a 75% rural population and with its two main urban areas being Carlisle (75,000) and 

Barrow (57,000). It has the Lake District national park in the centre of its area and part of 

the Yorkshire Dales National Park to the east in total covering about 40% of its area and 

creating impediments to east/west travel.  

Political Control 

24. Cumbria is the only non-metropolitan county in England with a Labour leader. Copeland, 

Allerdale and Carlisle are all Conservative led councils. The remaining councils are not 

Conservative led or under Conservative control. Cumbria as a county council has been led 

by a variety of political groups and joint administrations.  Therefore, given the history of 

political control in Cumbria, splitting up the county in this way may create an opportunity for 

Conservative control of part of Cumbria which under the other proposals they may have 

struggled to achieve.   

 
25. In North Yorkshire the Conservative Party controls the county but not many of the district 

councils and it seems unlikely therefore that they would have been expected to control both 

of the east/west unitary authorities proposed.   

 

The Process for Local Government Reorganisation 

26. The SoS invited proposals for local government reorganisation to create single tier 

authorities (“STAs”) in those areas. Those STAs could comprise a single unitary authority 

covering the whole of the county, or two or more STAs each covering parts of the counties.  

 

27. In Cumbria, a number of proposals were made: 

a. Cumbria County Council proposed a single unitary authority covering the whole area; 

b. Allerdale and Copeland proposed two unitary authorities splitting the county east-

west (Allerdale, Copeland and Carlisle in a single unitary to the west and Eden, 

South Lakeland and Barrow to the east) but with the need to have a combined 

authority mayor in the future to address overlapping functions; 

c. Carlisle and Eden proposed two unitary authorities splitting the county north-south; 

d. Barrow and South Lakeland proposed combining with Lancaster City Council in what 

was termed ‘The Bay’ unitary authority with the remainder of the authorities in a 

separate unitary authority.   

17



 
28. In North Yorkshire, there was a proposal from the County Council for a single unitary 

authority and from six of the seven  district councils for 2 unitary authorities again split 

east/west but also incorporating the City of York. 

 

29. The s.3(5) guidance was identical for all three counties and provided as follows: 

 
1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a 
single tier of local government, that is the establishment of one or more unitary 
authorities: 

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across 
the area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating savings, 
providing stronger strategic and local leadership, and which are more 
sustainable structures;  
b. which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round 
overall across the whole area of the proposal; and  
c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting 
of one or more existing local government areas with an aggregate population 
which is either within the range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, 
having regard to the circumstances of the authority, including local identity and 
geography, could be considered substantial.  

2. The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:  
a. A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government 
structures it is putting forward, and explain how, if implemented, these are 
expected to achieve the outcomes described in paragraph 1 above. 
b. The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any 
explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of a 
good deal of local support.  
c. The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local boundaries 
and geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary authority crosses 
existing police force and fire and rescue authority boundaries, the proposal 
should include an assessment of what the impact would be on the police 
forces and/or fire and rescue authorities and include the views of the relevant 
Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire and Rescue Authorities.  
d. Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around promoting 
economic recovery and growth, including possible future devolution deals and 
Mayoral Combined Authorities. 

 

30. In choosing between proposals the extent to which a proposal would meet the paragraph 1 

criteria  were necessarily material considerations. 

 
31. A comprehensive proposal was made by CCC. Its key features will be addressed in 

evidence for the Court. The proposal by Allerdale and Copeland envisaged and required a 

mayoral combined authority or some other coordinating structure. However, the 

implementation of that required the agreement of the new councils and could not therefore 

be included as the formal part of the proposal. 

 

32. The SoS consulted on the various proposals and produced a report summarising 

consultation responses.  

18



 
The Decisions 

33. The decisions were said to be made against the three criteria above and in the light of all 

the representations received.  

 
34. In respect of Cumbria, the SoS decided that the east-west proposal and the single unitary 

proposal met all three criteria. The determining factor was said to be geography – “due to 

the size and geographical barriers of Cumbria, together with the rurality of its population, it 

was more appropriate to implement [the east-west proposal]”.   

 
35. As to the east-west proposal: 

 
a. on criterion 1, it could be judged as meeting the criterion of improving local 

government and service delivery allowing more localised decision making but with a 

need to maintain existing operational arrangements in respect of fire and rescue 

services. Savings of up to £31.6m per annum would be achieved. He did not take 

into account: (1) the extent to which it met the criterion for improvement to local 

government and service delivery (compare the North Yorkshire decision – “strongly 

meeting”); (2) the adverse impacts of more “localised decision making” including the 

impact of it on service delivery for county level services – which would be 

disaggregated and disrupted rather than aggregated and improved; (3) the extent to 

which it met the criterion for greater value for money and generating savings 

compared to the single unitary authority (£51.8m per annum) – he did not weigh the 

£62m per annum difference between the savings against  the Two Unitary Approach; 

(4) the adverse impacts of having two rather than one unitary authority (compare 

North Yorkshire) particularly in terms of alignment of decision making including with 

health and police services (health in particular would create a very odd structure, with 

the health provision being split north south but the unitary authorities being split 

east/west), strategic leadership and the need to introduce a new combined authority 

as an extra tier; (5) the fact that public service providers did not support the two 

unitary approach (and alignment of coverage and delivery issues). In short, the 

factors which favoured the single unitary in North Yorkshire were inexplicably left out 

of account and the approach here was the converse of the logic there. Whereas 

North Yorkshire would deliver strategic leadership through a reduction in decision 

making bodies even though it would remove localised decision making, for Cumbria 

localised decision making was key and the disadvantages not addressed; 

b. on criterion 2, there was support for change but “the evidence in the consultation is 

limited about the support for this specific proposal” from the public. However, there 

was support from business in particular the nuclear industry and three local 

(Conservative) MPs. The SoS did not address the very limited sample size and 

statistical insignificance of the business responses.  

c. On criterion 3, he noted that the populations were below those in his guidance but 

concluded that “the proposed councils would have established local identity and local 

economic geography as referred to in the criterion. He did not consider the 

disadvantages in terms of criterion 1 factors of the smaller population or on what 

basis a population of 225,000 could be considered “substantial”. 

 

19



36. Thus in reaching the conclusion that the Two Unitary Approach met his three criteria: (1) he 

left out of account key factors; (2) prioritised localised decision over the factors (dependent 

on aggregation not disaggregation) referred to in his own guidance; and (3) failed to apply 

his own policy test on smaller populations.  

 
37. As to the single unitary proposal all three criterion were met.  

 
38. Given the flaws in the approach to the Two Unitary proposal, the SoS thus approached the 

choice between them on a flawed basis.  

 
39. The SoS made the choice between them based on the single factor he highlighted. He did 

not undertake a comparative exercise of the extent to which each met his criteria yet the 

extent to which they met the criterion was necessarily central to any rational choice.  

 
40. The single factor he highlighted was the size and geographical barriers to Cumbria together 

with the rurality of its population. North Yorkshire was larger, similarly sparsely populated 

and had equivalent geographical barriers (i.e. North Yorkshire Moors and Yorkshire Dales v 

Lake District and Yorkshire Dales) yet those factors did not count against it being a single 

unitary but in favour of a single unitary. There the SoS had concluded that a North Yorkshire 

unitary would have the critical mass to deliver services effectively to a large rural area and 

market towns and the proposed geography also aligns with arrangements in existing public 

sector partnerships and will allow existing relationships and partnership working to be 

maintained without disruption. The very factors which favoured a single unitary in North 

Yorkshire and which meant criterion 1a was “strongly” met somehow in Cumbria counted 

against it.  

 
41. In the absence of a coherent logic for the Decision based on his own criteria and consistent 

with his approach elsewhere, CCC is driven to the conclusion that there must have been 

something else driving this decision. It appears on the information currently that party 

political advantage may have influenced the decision. 

Grounds for Judicial Review 
42. The Cumbria Decision was unlawful in that the SoS:  

a. left out of account necessarily material considerations which his own guidance 

requires to be taken into account; 

b. failed to conscientiously consider the consultation responses of CCC showing why 

the Two Unitary Approach did not meet the SoS’s own guidance and would not 

deliver that which his guidance required; 

c. failed to understand or apply his own guidance in terms of the required scale of the 

new unitary authorities (and the reasons for that scale), failed to address the 

question as to whether a population of just 225,000 could be considered substantial 

in this context and provided no reason to depart from that guidance; 

d. failed to recognise the implications of the fact that the Two Unitary Approach was 

predicated on the creation of a combined mayoral authority to ensure co-ordination 

on key matters thus adding a new tier of local government administration. The need 

for co-ordination of county level services was necessarily a key benefit of a Single 

Unitary Approach but was left out of account;  

20



e. for no valid reason, acted inconsistently with his approach in North Yorkshire where a 

Single Unitary Approach was adopted – in the case of North Yorkshire factors in 

favour of a Single Unitary Approach were relied on but the same factors equally 

applicable to Cumbria were ignored in the Cumbria Decision and on the two key 

issues: localised service versus scale; and alignment of public service provision the 

approach in Cumbria was inexplicable the opposite of the approach in North 

Yorkshire;  

f. appears could have been motivated by possible party political advantage that 

splitting Cumbria in two may secure for his party.  If this was a factor in the decision, 

it would be an abuse of power and unlawful 

g. acted irrationally; and 

h. failed to provide adequate reasons addressing the principal controversial issues.  

 
What you are required to do 

43. Whilst the statutory instrument has not yet been made to give effect to the decision, it is 

appropriate to challenge the Decision at this stage.  

 
44. The SoS is thus invited to withdraw the Decision and reconsider the proposals in 

accordance with law.  

Documents Required 
45. The SoS is invited to provide: 

a. all records, notes, emails and other documents of meetings with the Allerdale and 

Copeland Councils and the MPs for Cumbria concerning local government 

reorganisation; 

b. all internal documents including ministerial briefing notes leading up to this decision 

including emails from and between his SPADs and between government 

departments and ministers on this issue.  

c. Consultation responses from public bodies and businesses. 

 
46. Any failure to provide this material at this stage will be the subject of comment and legal 

analysis in the Grounds.  

 
Reply  
 
Please respond to this letter by 4pm on Monday 23 August 2021 using the address given above 
for the claimant. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 

 
 
Iolanda Puzio 
Chief Legal Officer/Monitoring Officer 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Gilad Segal - Head of Division 
Gary Howard - Deputy Director, Team Leader Planning, Infrastructure & Environment 
 
 

 

 
 
Dear Ms Puzio 
 
Proposed claim for judicial review: R (Cumbria County Council) v Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities & Local Government 
 
This letter responds to your letter before claim dated 9 August 2021 and is provided in accordance with the Pre-
Action Protocol for Judicial Review. 
 
A. Proposed Claimant 

 
Cumbria County Council 
Cumbia House 
117 Botchergate 
Carlisle CA1 1RD 

 
B. Proposed Defendant 

 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities & Local Government 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF  
 
The Defendant may be contacted via the Government Legal Department at the following address: Government 
Legal Department, 102 Petty France, Westminster, London, SW1H 9GL. During the present Covid-19 crisis and 
until advised otherwise, please send documents by email to matthew.scales@governmentlegal.gov.uk. 

 
C. Reference details 
  
Our reference: Z2110528/MSS/JD3 
 
Please cite the above reference number on all future pre-action correspondence 
 

 
 
 
Iolanda Puzio 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 
Cumbria County Council 
Cumbria House 
117 Botchergate 
Carlisle CA1 1RD 
By email only: Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk   

Litigation Group 
102 Petty France 
Westminster 
London 
SW1H 9GL 

T 020 7210 3000 

 
 

  
DX 123243, Westminster 12 www.gov.uk/gld 
  
  

 Your ref: None provided 
 Our ref: Z2110528/MSS/JD3 
6 September 2021   

23

mailto:matthew.scales@governmentlegal.gov.uk
mailto:Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk


 

- 2 - 

D. Details of the decision being challenged  
 

1. Your letter identifies the decision being challenged as the Secretary of State’s decision announced on 21 
July 2021 to create two new unitary authorities instead of one new unitary authority for the county of 
Cumbria. 

  
E. Relevant legal and policy framework 

 
2. Section 2 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“the 2007 Act”) sets out the 

procedure for inviting or directing proposals from any “principal authority” for a “single tier of local 
government” (defined in s.1(1) and (2) respectively): 

“(1) The Secretary of State may invite or direct any principal authority to make one of the following 
proposals – 

(a) a Type A proposal; 

(b) a Type B proposal; 

(c) a Type C proposal; 

(d) a combined proposal. 

(2) A Type A proposal is a proposal that there should be a single tier of local government for the area 
which is the county concerned. 

(3) A Type B proposal is a proposal that there should be a single tier of local government for an area 
which – 

(a) is currently a district, or two or more districts, in the county concerned; and 

(b) is specified in the proposal. 

(4) A Type C proposal is a proposal that there should be a single tier of local government for an area 
specified in the proposal which currently consists of – 

(a) the county concerned or one or more districts in the county concerned; and 

(b) one or more relevant adjoining areas. 

(5) A combined proposal is a proposal that consists of – 

(a) two or more Type B proposals, 

(b) two or more Type C proposals, or 

(c) one or more Type B proposals and one or more Type C proposals, 

but a proposal is not a combined proposal if it includes any Type B or C proposals that are 
alternatives. 

(6) In this section “the county concerned” means – 

(a) in relation to a principal authority which is the council for a county, that county; 

(b) in relation to a principal authority which is the council for a district, the county in which the 
district is. 

(7) In this section a “relevant adjoining area” means an area which adjoins the county concerned and 
is currently a county in England, a district in England, or two or more such counties or districts. 

(8) An invitation or direction may either – 

(a) be such that the authority may choose whether to make a Type A, Type B, Type C or 
combined proposal; or 

(b) specify which one of those kinds of proposal is invited (or, in the case of a direction, 
required). 

(9) Subsection (1) is subject to section 3(1).”  

 
3. An invitation under s.2 may specify a date by which a proposal may be made (s.3(3)). Any authority 

responding to an invitation must have regard to the guidance from the Secretary of State as to what a 

24



 

- 3 - 

proposal should seek to achieve and matters that should be taken into account in formulating a proposal 
(s.3(5)). The relevant guidance1 states as follows (“the Guidance”): 

“1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a single tier of local 
government, that is the establishment of one or more unitary authorities:   

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across the area of the 
proposal, giving greater value for money, generating savings, providing stronger strategic 
and local leadership, and which are more sustainable structures;   

b. which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round overall across the 
whole area of the proposal; and 

c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting of one or 
more existing local government areas with an aggregate population which is either within the 
range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having regard to the circumstances of 
the authority, including local identity and geography, could be considered substantial. 

2. The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal: 

a. A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is putting 
forward, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to achieve the outcomes 
described in paragraph 1 above.  

b. The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any explanation of the 
outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of a good deal of local support.  

c. The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local boundaries and 
geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary authority crosses existing police force and 
fire and rescue authority boundaries, the proposal should include an assessment of what the 
impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and rescue authorities and include the 
views of the relevant Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire and Rescue Authorities. 

d. Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around promoting economic recovery 
and growth, including possible future devolution deals and Mayoral Combined Authorities.  

e. If the proposal submitted by 9 November 2020 is an outline proposal it should indicate what 
further material is expected to be provided and when this would be submitted which should 
be no later than 9 December 2020”. 

 
4. Each of paragraphs 1(a), 1(b) and 1(c) of the Guidance are referred to below as the first, second and third 

criterion respectively. 
 
5. Section 7 sets out the procedure for the implementation of proposals by order: 

“(1) Where the Secretary of State has received a proposal in response to an invitation or direction 
under section 2, he may –  

(a) by order implement the proposal, with or without modification; ... 

(c) decide to take no action. ... 

(3) The Secretary of State may not in any case make an order under subsection (1)(a) implementing a 
proposal unless he has consulted the following about the proposal – 

(a) every authority affected by the proposal (except the authority or authorities which made it); 
and 

(b) such other persons as he considers appropriate. 

(4) For the purposes of this section an authority is “affected by” a proposal if it is a principal authority 
for an area which is, or any part of which is, in an area that the proposal suggests should have a 
single tier of local government. ...” 

 
 

                                                      
1 The Guidance was included as a schedule to the consultation. See Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government, Consultation on proposals for locally-led reorganisation of local government in Cumbria, North 
Yorkshire and Somerset (22 July 2021) (https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-
reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset/consultation-on-proposals-for-
locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset)  

25

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset/consultation-on-proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset/consultation-on-proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset/consultation-on-proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset


 

- 4 - 

F. Factual background 
 
6. At present, Cumbria has two tiers of local government: a county council and six district councils. 

 
7. On 9 October 2020, the Secretary of State invited councils in Cumbria, North Yorkshire and Somerset, 

including neighbouring unitary councils in York, North Somerset and Bath and North East Somerset, to 
submit proposals for unitary local government in their areas by 9 December 2020. 

 
8. Eight proposals were received. Four of those concerned the proposals for Cumbria: 

 
a. A proposal for two unitary councils submitted by Allerdale and Copeland Councils: the East unitary 

covering Barrow, Eden and South Lakeland and the West unitary covering Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland (“the East West proposal”); 

 
b. A proposal for two unitary councils submitted by Barrow and South Lakeland Councils and supported 

by Lancaster City Council: the Barrow unitary covering Barrow, South Lakeland and Lancaster in 
Lancashire and the North unitary covering Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland and Eden; 

 
c. A proposal for two unitary councils submitted by Carlisle and Eden Councils: the North unitary 

covering Allerdale, Carlisle and Eden and the South unitary covering Barrow, Copeland and South 
Lakeland; and 

 
d. A proposal for a single unitary council submitted by Cumbia County Council (“the One Cumbria 

proposal”).  
 

9. The consultation took place between 22 February and 19 April 2021. 13,020 responses to the consultation 
were received, 3,225 of which related to Cumbria.  
 

10. The Secretary of State considered and analysed all of the consultation responses. On 21 July 2021, the 
Secretary of State made a Written Ministerial Statement announcing his decision, subject to Parliamentary 
approval, to implement the East West proposal. In relation to Cumbria, he stated (our emphasis): 

“In reaching my decision, I carefully considered each of the proposals. I assessed each proposal 
against the three criteria set out in the invitation sent to all the principal councils on 9 October. 
These criteria provide that for a proposal to be implemented, that proposal is likely to improve local 
government and service delivery across its area; commands a good deal of local support as assessed 
in the round overall across the whole area of the proposal; and any unitary councils to be established 
have a credible geography. 

I have also had regard to all the representations I received, including those received through the 
consultation, and to all the relevant information available to me, including the results of the local poll 
that the Somerset district councils held during the period from 18 May to 4 June and the representations 
received about the poll and its conduct. 

For Cumbria I have decided to implement, subject to Parliamentary approval, the proposal for 
two unitary councils – an East unitary council covering the existing areas of Barrow, Eden and 
South Lakeland and a West unitary council covering the existing areas of Allerdale, Carlisle and 
Copeland. I considered that this proposal met all three of the criteria. 

I also considered that the proposal for a single unitary council for the whole of Cumbria also 
met all three of the criteria. However, having regard to the size and geography of Cumbria, 
including the geographic barriers of lakes and mountains, and the rurality of its population, I 
have decided that it would be more appropriate to implement the East West unitary proposal, 
allowing for more localised decision making, which could be important given the geography of 
Cumbria. 

I have decided not to implement the proposal for two unitary councils – one council comprising the 
existing areas of Barrow, South Lakeland and Lancaster City and the other council comprising the 
existing areas of Allerdale, Carlisle, Copeland and Eden. I considered that this proposal did not meet 
the improving local government and service delivery and credible geography criteria. I have also 
decided not to implement the proposal for two unitary councils – one council comprising the existing 
areas of Allerdale, Carlisle and Eden and the other council comprising the existing areas of Barrow, 

26



 

- 5 - 

Copeland and South Lakeland. I considered that this proposal did not meet the credible geography 
criterion.” 

 
11. The Secretary of State stated that he intended to lay draft secondary legislation before Parliament around 

the turn of the year, which would include provisions for appropriate transitional arrangements, including for 
elections for the future unitary councils in May 2022 and for the unitary councils to assume the local 
authority responsibilities on 1 April 2023. 
 

12. By letter dated 21 July 2021, the Secretary of State informed the Council leaders that he had decided to 
implement the East West proposal, subject to Parliamentary approval, and enclosed the Ministerial 
Statement. The Government also informed the Chief Executives of Cumbria Councils and Lancaster City 
Council by letter on the same day, a copy of which is available online.2 

 
13. On 22 July 2021, the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government published a summary of the 

13,020 consultation responses which had been received and considered (“the Report”). 
 

14. A special meeting of Cumbria County Council took place on 25 August 2021 to consider the following 
motion: “This council believes that launching a legal challenge against the proposed Local Government 
Reform in Cumbria will be a waste of public money and time and that the council should instead focus on 
serving local residents by working constructively with all partners to ensure a smooth transition to the new 
unitary authorities.”. The motion was passed by 30 votes to 18 with eight abstentions. 

 
G. Response to the proposed claim 
 
Ground 1: Failure to take account of relevant considerations 
 
15. Your letter alleges that the Secretary of State “left out of account necessarily material considerations which 

his own guidance requires to be taken account” (§42(a)). It does not specify what matters are said to have 
been material considerations which were allegedly not taken into account. We assume that these are all of 
the matters listed at §35 of your letter, namely: 
 

a. On the first criterion, the extent to which the two unitary approach met the criterion for improvement to 
local government and service delivery and greater value for money and generating savings compared 
to the one unitary approach; 
 

b. On the second criterion, the fact that there was a “very limited sample size” and the “statistical 
insignificance” of the support from business for the East West proposal; and 

 
c. On the third criterion, the fact that a population of 225,000 in one of the proposed councils could not 

be considered substantial. 
 

16. The Secretary of State does not accept that those considerations, to the extent that they were material, 
were not taken into account. The matters set out above were raised in the consultation responses, which 
were fully considered and analysed prior to the decision being taken. In particular: 
 

a. As to the first criterion, consultees were asked whether the proposals were likely to improve local 
government and service delivery across each area; specifically, whether they were likely to improve 
council services, give greater value for money, generate savings, provide stronger strategic and local 
leadership, and create more sustainable structures. The Secretary of State considered the responses 
from some respondents who were of the view that the two unitary approach would not provide value 
for money or would result in the disaggregation of current services and/or that the single unitary 
approach would be the most efficient outcome by generating savings and reducing duplication (Report 
§§9, 13-15). However, the Secretary of State reached the view that first criterion was met. On this 
criterion, the letter to the Chief Executives stated in relation to the East West proposal: 

                                                      
2 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, Proposals for locally-led reorganisation of local 
government in Cumbria, North Yorkshire and Somerset (22 July 2021) 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-
cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset)  

27

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-locally-led-reorganisation-of-local-government-in-cumbria-north-yorkshire-and-somerset


 

- 6 - 

 
“In relation to this proposal, the Secretary of State considered that it could be judged as meeting 
the criterion of improving local government and service delivery across the area. He considered 
that the proposal included evidence of improvement to local government and the delivery of 
public services, which was supported by a number of stakeholders; the proposal allows for more 
localised decision making on key services, and in the case of the existing county fire and rescue 
services, there will be a need to maintain the existing operational arrangements; the proposal 
suggests that savings annually of between £19.1m and £31.6m will be achieved and that the 
transition will require a total one-off investment of £17.6m to £23.8m. He was aware that the 
Department’s analysts confirmed that in their view all the Cumbria options would be good value 
for money.” 

 
b. In regard to the second criterion, it is plainly incorrect to assert (in so far as it is alleged) that the 

Secretary of State did not have regard to the extent of local support. The letter to the Chief Executives 
(to which you refer at §35(b) of your letter) stated: 

 
“The Secretary of State considered that there is a good deal of local support in the round for the 
proposal for East-West unitaries. He noted there is a body of support for the East-West option 
as there is support for change to a unitary form of government, with greater support for solutions 
where services are delivered more locally; the evidence in the consultation is limited about 
support for this specific proposal. However, there is support from business recognising that this 
proposal could better support the advanced manufacturing base and supply chain around 
Sellafield; benefits of this proposal were recognised by the nuclear industry, including the 
National Nuclear Laboratory. Three local MPs have indicated their support for the proposal.” 
 

c. As to the third criterion, it is also wrong to claim that the Secretary of State did not have regard to 
whether the population in each council, which was outside the range of 300,000 to 600,000, could 
nevertheless be considered to be substantial. The letter to the Chief Executives stated: 
 

“The Secretary of State also considered that the proposal for East-West unitaries could be 
judged to meet the credible geography criterion. He concluded that the populations of the 
councils (225k and 273k) are below the range of council size set out in the invitation, but the 
proposed councils would have established local identity and local economic geography, as 
referred to in the criterion.” 
 

17. The crux of your complaint appears to be that the Secretary of State gave incorrect weight to the criteria in 
the Guidance. That is a matter within the discretion of the Secretary of State and is only reviewable if it was 
outside the range of reasonable decisions open to him. The decision to implement the East West proposal 
was plainly one which was open to him to make on the evidence before him. 

 
Ground 2: Failure to consider the Claimant’s consultation response   
 
18. Your letter states that the Secretary of State failed to “conscientiously consider the consultation responses 

of CCC showing why the Two Unitary Approach did not meet the SoS’s own guidance and would not 
deliver that which his guidance required” (§42(b)). The Secretary of State took into account all consultation 
responses received, including the Cumbria County Council’s response.  

 
Ground 3: Failure to understand or apply guidance 
 
19. Your letter states that the Secretary of State “failed to understand or apply his own guidance in terms of the 

required scale of the new unitary authorities (and the reasons for that scale), failed to address the question 
as to whether a population of just 225,000 could be considered substantial in this context and provided no 
reason to depart from that guidance” (§42(c)). The Secretary of State did not depart from or misapply the 
Guidance: the reasons why he considered the East West proposal to meet the credible geography criterion 
are set out at §15.c above.  
 

Ground 4: Failure to recognise the implications of East West proposal 
 

28



 

- 7 - 

20. Your letter alleges that the Secretary of State “failed to recognise the implications of the fact that the Two 
Unitary Approach was predicated on the creation of a combined mayoral authority to ensure co-ordination 
on key matters thus adding a new tier of local government administration.” (§42(d)). The legal basis for this 
allegation is not clear. In any event, it is without merit: The East West proposal by Allerdale and Copeland 
Councils referred to the desirability of a combined authority, a matter which they were asked to consider: 
see §2(d) of the Guidance. Having received submissions on the issue, the Secretary of State concluded 
that in the circumstances of Cumbria, the potential desirability of establishing a combined authority was not 
material to the decision on whether the proposal for unitary local government met the criteria. 
 

Ground 5: Inconsistency 
 
21. Your letter claims that the Secretary of State acted “inconsistently with the approach in North Yorkshire 

where a Single Unitary Approach was adopted” (§42(e)). The Secretary of State’s decision on unitarisation 
of local government in North Yorkshire has no bearing on the appropriate approach in an entirely separate 
area. In any event (a) in North Yorkshire, only the single unitary approach met the criteria, unlike Cumbria; 
and (b) the factors you have identified in your letter at §42(e) (namely, localised service versus scale and 
alignment of public service provision in Cumbria) were taken into account by the Secretary of State before 
he reached the decision to implement the East West proposal (see §15 above). 

 
Ground 6: Alleged political advantage   
 
22. Your letter states that the decision “appears could have [sic] been motivated by possible party political 

advantage that splitting Cumbia in two may secure for his party” (§42(f)). You provided no basis for making 
this assertion, or evidence to support the suggestion that the decision was made for alleged political 
advantage. That allegation is strongly refuted. 
 

Ground 7: Irrationality 
 
23. This proposed ground of challenge is not particularised. There is no basis for asserting that the Secretary 

of State’s decision to implement the East West proposal was irrational.  
 
Ground 8: Reasons   
 
24. This proposed ground of challenge is not particularised. There is no statutory requirement under the 2007 

Act to give reasons. In any event, the Secretary of State gave adequate reasons for the decision to 
implement the East West proposal in the letter sent to the Council leaders, the letter to the Chief 
Executives, and the Written Ministerial Statement on 21 July 2021.  

 
H. Details of other Interested Parties 
 
25. We agree that the councils identified in your letter at §5 would be Interested Parties to any claim. 
 
 
I. Response to requests for information and documents 
 
26. Your requests for pre-action disclosure are extensive and disproportionate, particularly at the pre-action 

stage. There is a significant amount of publicly available information, including the Report, Written 
Ministerial Statement and copies of the letters referred to at §12 above. 
 
 

J. Address for further correspondence and service of court documents 
 
27. All further correspondence should be addressed to Matthew Scales using the contact details set out at 

section B above and the reference at section C above. Should you proceed with filing a claim, please serve 
it via email on both newproceedings@governmentlegal.gov.uk and 
matthew.scales@governmentlegal.gov.uk.  
 

28. Please acknowledge receipt of this letter. 
 

29

mailto:newproceedings@governmentlegal.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.scales@governmentlegal.gov.uk


 

- 8 - 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Matthew Scales 
For the Treasury Solicitor 
 
D 020 7210 8579 
E matthew.scales@governmentlegal.gov.uk 
 

30



MINUTE EXTRACT FROM A MEETING OF CABINET HELD ON 23 

SEPTEMBER 2021:- 

 
PART II – ITEMS CONSIDERED NOT IN THE PRESENCE OF THE 

PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
140 POTENTIAL CLAIM FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW AGAINST 

DECISION OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN RESPECT OF 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION IN CUMBRIA 

 
Members had before them a report from the Monitoring Officer which 

asked Cabinet to consider whether to issue a claim for judicial review 
against the decision of the Secretary of State to implement the East/West 

two unitary authority proposal in Cumbria. 
 

Cabinet was recommended to review the legal advice which was 
contained in Appendix 3 to this report and to determine whether to issue 

a claim for judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of State.   
 

On 21 July the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government announced his decision to, subject to Parliamentary 
approval, implement the proposal for two unitary councils in Cumbria on 

an East/West split. 
 

On Monday 9 August the Council sent a pre-action protocol letter (PAPL) 
to the Secretary of State in respect of a proposed claim by the Council for 

judicial review of the decision of the Secretary of State to create two new 
unitary authorities for the county of Cumbria rather than a single unitary 

covering the whole of the county.  The PAPL was also sent to the 6 
District Councils in Cumbria as Interested Parties in any claim for judicial 

review.   
 

The PAPL requested the Secretary of State to respond to the letter by 23 
August.  The Secretary of State requested an extension to this timescale 

which was granted.  The Secretary of State’s response was received on 6 
September.  A copy of the response was attached as Appendix 2 of the 

report. 

 
On 25 August there was a special meeting of the Council, called at short 

notice, to discuss the judicial review at which it was resolved that that 
this council believes that launching a legal challenge against the proposed 

Local Government Reform in Cumbria will be a waste of public money and 
time and that the council should instead focus on serving local residents 

by working constructively with all partners to ensure a smooth transition 
to the new unitary authorities.  However, as the decision to issue a claim 

for judicial review is an executive decision, the resolution passed by 
Council on 25 August was not binding on Cabinet. 

31

Agenda Item 5b



Judicial review was the mechanism by which the courts could review the 

decision-making process of a public body to determine whether a decision 
was taken lawfully and fairly. The purpose of judicial review was not to 

examine the decision itself.  Judicial review was only concerned with the 
process by which the decision was reached.  

 
There were four main grounds for bringing a claim for judicial review.  

These were illegality, irrationality, procedural impropriety and legitimate 
expectation. 

 
The role of the court in a judicial review claim was not to re-take the 

decision itself but to look at the decision-making process.  The possible 
remedies were a mandatory, prohibiting or quashing order, a declaration 

or an injunction.  The most common remedy was a quashing order – this 
meant the public authority would be required to make the decision again 

following the correct procedure and acting fairly and reasonably taking 

into account all relevant facts and ignoring all irrelevant facts.  The public 
authority may reach the same decision again. 

 
There was a two-stage process to bringing a claim for judicial review.  A 

claim for judicial review may only be brought with the permission of the 
court.  If the court was satisfied that there was an arguable case for 

judicial review it would grant permission to proceed to a substantive 
hearing. The Court could agree to hear both aspects of the application on 

the same day, with the permission hearing rolling into a substantive one if 
considered appropriate by the Court.  

 
The court must refuse to grant permission if it appeared to the court to be 

highly likely that the outcome would not have been substantially different 
if the conduct complained of had not occurred unless it considered that to 

do so was appropriate for reasons of exceptional public interest.  This was 

designed to prevent judicial review cases being brought to challenge 
minor or technical errors that would not make a difference to the 

outcome. 
 

Strict time limits applied to a claim for judicial review.  The claimant must 
file a claim form promptly and, in any event, within three months of the 

date on which the grounds for the claim first arose.  This would require 
proceedings to be issued by 20 October 2021 in order to satisfy this time 

limit. 
 

If the defendant intended to resist the claim it must file an 
acknowledgement of service within 21 days of service of the claim form 

together with a summary of its grounds for resisting the claim.   
 

The legal advice Council had received in relation to the potential claim is 

attached as Part II Appendix 3.  Cabinet was recommended to consider 
this advice and determine whether or not to proceed with the claim. 

32



If Cabinet determined to bring the claim then the Chief Legal Officer had 

the authority to issue proceedings on behalf of the Council under 15.8(g) 
of the Scheme of Delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution.  

 
The Secretary of State’s decision on 21 July 2021 would result in a major 

restructuring of local government in Cumbria.  It was important that all 
relevant factors were taken into account in determining such a major 

decision which would have a long-term impact on the delivery of services 
to the people of Cumbria. 

 
The Leader of the Council proposed that Cumbria County Council should 

issue a claim for judicial review against the decision of the Secretary of 
State, and this was then debated, with a number of views being 

expressed.  On conclusion of the debate this was put to a vote. With 5 
votes for, 0 votes against and 4 abstentions it was  

 

RESOLVED,  that a claim is issued for Judicial Review against the 
decision of the Secretary of State to implement the 

East/West two unitary proposal in Cumbria. 
 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Call in of cabinet decision to make a claim for Judicial Review on LGR 

 

We, the undersigned, wish to “Call in” the cabinet decision on 23rd September 2021, under 
Minute 140, to make a claim for Judicial Review against the Rt Hon Michael Gove MP, 
Secretary of State for Levelling up, Housing and Communities over local government reform 

There are six grounds for this call-in, which are as follows 

1) Lack of Transparency and Openness. 
2) Because of the open-ended nature of the potential costs involved and complete lack 

of information provided about them, there is a need for call-in to scrutinise whether 
this decision is within the budget and policy framework. 

3) The secrecy surrounding this decision and the reasons for it is in breach of the UN 
convention on Human Rights requirements on access to information. 

4) The resources and potential cost involved are not proportionate to the likelihood, or 
lack of it, of achieving any change. 

5) Access to information and advice: the entire discussion of the item was held in part II 
and not even a summary of the advice given was provided to the leadership of the 
opposition group went against the principle that members should have equal access 
to information. 

6) Because this decision explicitly goes against a specific view taken by the full council 
itself, all members can reasonably expect a full explanation of the reasons for this 
decision and for that decision to be subject to particular scrutiny. 

 

To explain these grounds in more detail: 

 
Lack of Transparency and Openness 

The meeting was held in part II with the press, public and members not in the cabinet 
excluded and no material explanation has been provided for the justification of the cabinet 
decision or what assessment has been done of costs, risks or chances of success. As such 
this is completely against the principles of transparency and openness 

 
Open-ended nature of costs and no indication whether they are within the budget 
framework  

Minute 140 gives no indication of the full scale of the potential costs and financial risks 
involved or how they will be funded. The recent history of the council demonstrates that the 
potential costs of complex legal processes can be measured in millions of pounds. The lack 
of openness and transparency makes it extremely difficult to assess whether this decision is 
within the Policy and Budget Framework. Members are entitled to demand proper scrutiny 
of the potential costs and risks and how they are to be paid for so that a full assessment of 
whether the decision is within the cost and budget framework or can be made. 

 

 

 

35

Agenda Item 5c



Human rights 

Access to information is a key part of freedom of expression as a fundamental human right 
as recognised by the United nations 1947 declaration on human rights.  The secrecy 
surrounding this decision is to a point that it is preventing the democratic process being the 
vehicle for free expression.  We argue that this decision impacts the human rights of the 
people of Cumbria by preventing free expression through extreme secrecy on the part of 
the Cabinet. 

 
Proportionality 

Again, because Insufficient information has been provided about the advice given 
concerning the costs and risks of this action and the chances of success, it is difficult to 
assess whether this decision meets the principle of proportionality. However, there is 
indisputably a material risk of an expensive failure in which large sums of taxpayers’ money 
could be lost in an unsuccessful challenge to no benefit whatsoever, and therefore this 
decision should be scrutinised so that members can be confident that due diligence has 
been carried out to minimise the risk of such an outcome and ensure that the decision is 
proportionate in terms of the potential to achieve any favourable change weighed against 
costs and risks. 

 
Access to information and advice 

As already explained there has been a serious shortfall in the information and legal advice 
that has been provided to both backbench councillors and the opposition group which 
makes it difficult to understand the basis on which the cabinet decision was taken. In the 
absence of that information the decision should be called in to be properly scrutinised. 

 
Contrary to a decision of the full council 

The allegation has been made that the vote by full council was only advisory because It is an 
executive matter. That cannot be considered proved until it has been assessed whether the 
financial implications and risks of the proposal are within the policy and budget framework 
and enough information has not yet been provided to do that. Even if it were an executive 
matter, a decision contrary to the wishes of elected members expressed in a resolution 
carried by the full council should be explained and subject to scrutiny by members. 

 

Chris Whiteside 
Arthur Lamb 
Ben Shirley  
 

 

 

36



The Call-in Meeting Format 

 

Chair of 
SMB

•The Chair opens the meeting by outlining the call-in meeting procedure and ‘order of play’

Call-In 
Members

•The Lead Call in Member presents the reasons for the Call-in

•The remaining two Call-in members invited to contribute to the Lead Member’s argument

Cabinet 
Member

•The Cabinet Member responds to the call-in arguments and offers  their viewpoint

•Any additional appropriate speakers, including the Corporate Director, will be given the opportunity to explain any technical issues/provide 
background to the decision

SMB

•After all appropriate members/officers have spoken, Scrutiny Members may ask call-iners, the Cabinet member and officers questions of 
clarification

•Scrutiny Members may also ask the Legal Services/Democratic Services representatives for any clarification about procedures

Cabinet 
Member

•The Chair will firstly ask the Cabinet member to sum up their position

Call-In 
Members

•The Chair will then ask the lead Call-in Member to briefly sum up their position

SMB

•The Board will then discuss the issues around the call-in generally without interjection by call-in in members, the Cabinet member and 
officers (unless the Board asks for any further clarification)

•SMB will vote on and agree their decision regarding what to do with the call-in

37

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5a Cabinet Report - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria
	Appendix 1 09 08 21 Pre Action Proposal for Judicial Review
	Appendix 2 210906 R (oao Cumbria CC) v MHCLG - Pre-action response

	5b Cabinet Minute Extract - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria
	5c Call in letter - Potential Claim for Judicial Review against decision of the Secretary of State in respect of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria
	6 Call in flow chart

